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EMILY LITTLE:   This is Emily Little.  Today is Thursday, June 22nd, 2017, and today I’m interviewing for the first time architect Toni Thomasson.  This interview is taking place at the Austin History Center at 810 Guadalupe Street in Austin, Texas.  This interview is being done for the Austin History Center architectural archives and is one of a series of interviews with and about Austin, Travis County architects.  Morning, Toni.
TONI THOMASSON:
Good morning, Emily.
EL:
What is your full name and when and where were you born?
TT:
My full name is Toni Marie Thomasson and I was born in 1951 in Texas City, Texas.

EL:
Interesting.  And where did you grow up?  And tell me about the house you grew up in.

TT:
Well, we lived in Texas City until I was in second grade.  My dad was a chemical engineer in Union Carbide [00:01:00] and he was transferred to the Seadrift plant further down the Texas coast in about 1959.  And we lived in Victoria a while, but he wanted to live right on the coast so we moved to Port Lavaca later, in 1960.  During the time in Victoria, my dad designed a house for us -- 

EL:
Oh, my goodness. 
TT:
-- and had it built. 
EL:
Oh, how wonderful.  Well, tell me about that house.
TT:
Well, that house was just a three-bedroom, two-bath, normal little brick house.  Being an engineer, he was very concerned about hurricanes.  And so, he did make some special provisions for that in his design of the house.  He had the -- every [00:02:00] corner of the roof structure was cabled to the slab.  There were eye bolts embedded in the slab and he had these cables installed.
EL:
Oh, like tie-downs.  
TT:
So, it was tied down to the slab.  And then he didn’t like the way shingles were kind of that self-stick little dab of black stuff on there.  He took buckets and buckets of that stuff up there on the roof and -- 

EL:
(inaudible). 

TT:
-- painted every single shingle solid with the black sticky stuff. 
EL:
The back of them, before -- 

TT:
Mm-hmm.

EL:
-- he applied -- did he install the roof?

TT:
Well, the roof was already installed, and somehow he went in there and lifted each one up and re-coated it through the whole roof.  It did pay off because a year later, after we moved in -- well, we had several disasters in that house.  [00:03:00] The first one was a big flood, an actual -- it was a 30-inch rain -- 
EL:
Oh, dear.
TT:
-- that occurred within a 24-hour period due to a tropical depression, and the house flooded.  It was not that deep in the house because it was new and it was very tight.  But the water outside, you know, on the sliding glass door, was over my head.  And I remember watching sofas and animals float by the windows on logs.  And so, that was within two months of us moving into the house.  And then a year later we had Hurricane Carla.
EL:
Yeah.  I thought that’s what you were going to say.  

TT:
And -- 

EL:
So, do you remember the building of the house?  Were you interested in that process?

TT:
I was interested in the plans.  My dad would let me draw [00:04:00] on the plans and trace the plans.  We had a few drafting things around the house because of his engineering work, and so there was tracing paper, and scales, and mechanical pencils, and...
EL:
Just part of life.  
TT:
Yeah.

EL:
Oh, that’s wonderful.
TT:
Could play with them.  So that house was our house until 2007 when he passed away.  So I continued to go down there and sleep in my old room in that house.
EL:
In Victoria?
TT:
That was in Port Lavaca.
EL:
Oh, I thought you said he designed a house that was in Port -- in Victoria.

TT:
He wanted -- we were living in Victoria briefly while -- he really wanted to live on the coast.  
EL:
Exactly.

TT:
But I do remember the impact of Carla.  We were lucky nothing damaged our house, but...
EL:
I mean, we felt it badly in Austin, so [00:05:00] I can’t imagine what it was like on the coast. 
TT:
It wiped out whole communities on the water.  There was 19-foot tidal surge.  

EL:
Ugh.

TT:
Yeah.

EL:
So, you had the influence of your father as an engineer and a designer.  So, when did you first know you wanted to be an architect?  What drew you to it, and who were the people that encouraged you in architecture?

TT:
There were just small, little hints along the way.  There was, of course, my father in engineering.  But I wasn’t very interested.  He was in the industrial world, and I was just kind of like, ugh, you know, I don’t want to do that.  (laughter) But I had a math teacher in high school who asked me one time if I had considered architecture.  [00:06:00] And then I had a close friend who was at Rice in the School of Architecture, and he was a year older.  And once I got to UT as a math major, I went to see him in the fall, and I saw his studio at Rice and the things they were doing.  And then the final push occurred in the spring when I was sitting next to a 28-year-old journalist in calculus class.  He was in the master’s program in the School of Architecture, struggling to get through his calculus, and he wanted me to tutor him.  So we would meet and he would work on our math problems, and I would read his Hamlin History of Architecture to occupy my time.
EL:
Oh, my word.  [00:07:00] 
TT:
And every time we met I’d say, “Did you bring the book?”
EL:
Oh, my gosh.  This is great.
TT:
So finally one day he said, “You know, you really need to go see an advisor at the School of Architecture and just talk to them.  You seem very interested.”  So I did.  I went over there in the spring of my freshman year.  And I won’t say who it was that told me in my meeting that women should not be architects because it was too hard.
EL:
Oh, because it was too hard?
TT:
It was too hard.  And I said, “Well, let’s say I wanted to study architecture.  What would be my next step?” (laughter) And so, that summer I took all my design and drawing for the freshman year and started my sophomore year as caught up with my class.  So there were all those little [00:08:00] hints along the way that architecture might be interesting for me.

EL:
So, when you were told it was too hard, did that just sort of fire you up?
TT:
You bet.

EL:
Yeah.  Because you were interested.  You knew your interest was real. 
TT:
And I like challenges. 

EL:
Yeah.  So, that was just the green light? (laughter) 
TT:
I don’t like being told, “You really shouldn’t do this.” (laughter)
EL:
Yeah.  That’s just -- okay.  Well, congratulations -- 

TT:
(laughter) 

EL:
-- on your fire in the belly.  So you did obviously attend UT School of Architecture in Austin.

TT:
Mm-hmm.  I did.  

EL:
So, who -- besides that first person that didn’t encourage you, who did encourage you?  Who inspired you?  Who was important to you, and who was dean at the time?

TT:
The school was in a little bit of turmoil when I was there because of the change in deanship.  [00:09:00] Alan Taniguchi was dean when I started.
EL:
And what year was this?

TT:
I started -- that summer was the summer of ’71.  And I think Alan was gone within a year and Sinclair Black became the interim dean.  And then they hired Charles Burnette, who I believe was from Philadelphia.  And didn’t -- he didn’t stay long, but he was there when I graduated.  So, people who inspired me.  You know, it was kind of hard to -- I didn’t really have any mentors, but I had people I really could relate to, and I was interested in what they taught.  Like, Robert Copeland was a landscape architect who had come from just finishing Hemisfair down in San Antonio.  [00:10:00] 
EL:
Interesting.  Wow.
TT:
And I was so interested in his -- I was taking not only a lecture course in landscape architecture but a design class they offered then.  And I think I took two semesters in landscape architecture design.  And Gerlinde Leiding --

EL:
Of course.

TT:
Of course.  

EL:
But what -- you didn’t finish the sentence, you were “so interested in...”  Was it the larger-scale planning of his work at Hemisfair, or what was it about landscape --?
TT:
I think so.  I think, you know, inserting that into the urban environment, and what it became.  I had been to Hemisfair, so I had experienced it as a high school student, so it intrigued me.
EL:
And was Gerlinde the only woman teaching at the time in the school? [00:11:00] Was Roxanne Williamson there?

TT:
I never had her, but I do think she might have been there.  And then we had another woman who had come from -- what was her name?  I’m sorry, I can’t remember.
EL:
That’s okay.
TT:
Was there a N-- no.  

EL:
Nan Blake was photography for a while, but probably not that far back.
TT:
I’ll have to think of it.  I can’t think of her...
EL:
But just sparse.
TT:
Very sparse.

EL:
Sparsely populated.  And on you went.  And were there women in your class?

TT:
Yes.  I would say -- I think I’ve looked back and it was probably about 10% women.  I would say that Blake Alexander was also someone who, I just loved his classes, and I took every architectural history class I could.
EL:
Me too.  Wasn’t he wonderful?
TT:
He was wonderful.  I just [00:12:00] lived for the day I could go to Europe someday and see some of those things.

EL:
And have you been?

TT:
I did eventually go.  I was in my forties before I got to go, but...
EL:
That’s okay.  You had to raise some kids in the meantime. 

TT:
That’s true.  But he was special in that he showed, I think, just a little bit of attention.  I got to go to his house once and he let me play his harpsichord that he had built.
EL:
Oh.  That he built?

TT:
I think he had built it.  

EL:
Wow.

TT:
I know.  

EL:
Yes, Blake was a unique and wonderful man.

TT:
So, those were some of the people that I enjoyed.
EL:
But what aspects of your background -- we’ve talked about your childhood, but the upbringing and the influence of your father -- how do you see [00:13:00] the effect of that on your career path?  And then I’m also very interested in what causes people to stay with the profession of architecture.  Are there rewards?  Do they come quickly, or what keeps you doing it?
TT:
Well, I think there were some basic tenets to my whole career.  One is, I just loved Austin.  I came for the first time in sixth grade on a school field trip.  You know: school bus; un-air-conditioned; three kids to a seat.

EL:
(laughter) 

TT:
Your little sack lunch your mom has made you.  And I was just in love with Austin.  I went home and I told my parents, “That’s where I’m going to live.”  And that never left me.

EL:
How old were you?

TT:
I was 12 when I came here.

EL:
So, you see something, [00:14:00] and you want it, and you go.  

TT:
I definitely did there, yeah.  There was that.  And however I got into architecture as a school, you know, it was way better than just math.  (laughter) It had more complexity.  
EL:
(laughter) 

TT:
I truly felt, okay, this is a field that I can make a life in.  There’s lots to it.  There’s so many directions to go, and so many options, and that attracted me.  And I discovered that I just loved architects.
EL:
Loved architects.  I like that distinction.
TT:
Yes.  I just --

EL:
What about them?

TT:
I just loved the way they would think about things, and their view of the world.  Eventually I came to love their processes [00:15:00] of -- I mean, I love processes anyway, but their process always attracted me.  And so, there was just lots of things like that, that kept me in the path of architecture.  You know, going to the City, eventually finding my way to the City, allowed for all of that.  You know, it supported my love of Austin as a city, and getting to participate truly in its growth in a big-picture kind of way.  I got to work with all the architects.  Or not everyone; but such a broad variety of architects in the City.  And I had had time [00:16:00] in a private office, and I got assigned to a project or a few projects.  As a spec writer, I got to participate in a broader variety of projects in the private sector, which was good; but nothing like the City offered.
EL:
So you saw more opportunity in the public realm of the practice of architecture.

TT:
I did.

EL:
Did you feel like you were going to be pigeonholed as spec writer?  Was that your strength?

TT:
I wasn’t worried about pigeonholing.  I really liked it.  I loved the research, and helping the project architect solve their problems, you know, they had with materials or systems.
EL:
But all that is so [00:17:00] technical.  So, you had a very technical ability as well. 

TT:
It was.  And I liked it.  And I probably would have stayed, but in the firm I was in, honestly, I felt discriminated against as a mother.  I had had my first child and, you know, my bonus was cut because I had been on a two-month maternity leave.

EL:
No.
TT:
And -- but it was cut in half for a two-month maternity leave.  (laughter) My workload was growing.  I’d be working on seven projects at a time.  And I asked for a raise to help me buy some services for home so that I could continue to have a kind of balanced life, [00:18:00] and I was turned down in my request. 
EL:
Did you explain the reason?
TT:
Mm-hmm.  I did.  I went in with a good case for why I needed a 5% raise, I think it was.  (laughter) I can hear it in your voice.
EL:
Well, this is a fascinating topic because, you know, I mean, there are special committees in the AIA about women in architecture, and why aren’t there women in architecture today.
TT:
That’s true. 

EL:
And we just had this month-long focus in Austin about that issue.  And to me, the stories I heard these 25-year-old women talking about is exactly what you’re talking about, that you faced 35 years ago.  Just hasn’t changed.
TT:
That’s sad, that it has not changed.

EL:
It’s very sad.  But we’re working on it.  There’s more awareness now.  I mean, you were just an isolated one.  I mean, those men in that firm probably had no inkling of what [00:19:00] to do.  All they wanted was for you to show up and work.  So, you know, I mean, I don’t want to defend them, but I guess I will just put it in context that now there’s a lot more awareness.  
TT:
Yes.

EL:
And I don’t think they can get away with it as easily as they could have day for you.

TT:
And I think, these days, men also want their leave time --

EL:
Good point.

TT:


-- and their family time, and that helps contribute to change.

EL:
Yes.  Good point.  The roles or the lines of division are crumbling, thankfully.  So, in that vein, the motherhood and the fact that you have two children, now adults, and much of your career, their whole childhood was, you were a co-parent with your ex-husband.  And I’m just -- how did you manage all of that?  You have had a very successful career.  Demanding.  [00:20:00] And...
TT:
You know, I had a work environment at the City that was very -- I was free to create the culture within my division.  And many of the people who worked in our division were much like me.  They had young families.  And so, it was really a group consensus that this is the kind of culture we want in our office, that supports families and allows you to take off and go do the party or the field trip.  And so, we all helped one another and --
EL:
How wonderful.
TT:
-- filled in for one another.  And it was -- you know, [00:21:00] we were allowed things like to give rewards to employees for special work or putting in extra effort.  And we were given the option to give eight hours of leave, or a gift card to a restaurant, or movie passes, or -- you know, we had options to draw from.  But when I went to my people and I said, “Okay, what makes you feel appreciated; what kind of rewards will you be wanting?” they always said, “We want time for our families.”  They were always short of sick leave because of kids’ illnesses and all (laughter)...
EL:
Yes.  They had to call in sick, but it was really the kid that was sick.
TT:
Yes.  So, it really wasn’t that hard to balance.  And my ex-husband had gone to [00:22:00] the public sector also, at just the same time I did.
EL:
Also an architect?
TT:
Yes.  He’s an architect and a landscape architect with UT.
EL:
Now, fill in a few details from the denial of the bonus, or the 5% raise.  So, you knew that that setup was not going to work for you.  How did you get to the City?  And then you said you were the head of the division, and you were able to set that tone for that environment.  How did you make that -- that’s a giant step we just jumped over.

TT:
Okay.

EL:
(laughter) 

TT:
Yes.  Well, I quit my job at the firm almost immediately.
EL:
Really?

TT:
And I was fortunate that my husband had a good job, and we were living small, and I was free to take that time.  After about two months off, [00:23:00] I woke up one morning and thought, “I need a job.” (laughter) “I have to go back to work.”  I just needed to go back to work.
EL:
Not financially driven, necessarily.  
TT:
No, just...

EL:
But just for your own personal fulfillment and mental happiness.
TT:
Oh, my God.  During two months, I had contracted with the former firm, who desperately needed me to help them, and I charged them the -- for doing the spec I charged them the equivalent of a 10% raise.  (laughter) 
EL:
Oh, yeah.
TT:
So mean.
EL:
Bravo.
TT:
(laughter) I finished that.  I dug a garden.  I knitted a sweater.  

EL:
(laughter)

TT:
I read about 10 books.  I volunteered at my daughter’s daycare for swim classes.  

EL:
Toni. 

TT:
So, at the end of two months I had -- I was like, well, yes.  It’s time to go back to work.  So, I got up [00:24:00] that morning and, in 1983 fashion, got the newspaper and opened it up to the classifieds to see what sort of jobs were listed.

EL:
Oh, my goodness.

TT:
And there were two jobs at the City of Austin for an architect, that were open.  And I called.  They said, “Come in now.  We need you.”  So, what had happened is, Benny Hawkins had left the City and he was taking all the project managers with him to AISD -- to the school district.  So they were really running short.  And so, I started right away.
EL:
And who hired you?

TT:
J.D. Murchison.
EL:
I don’t know that person.
TT:
He was from the Panhandle area.  He had gone to school at the University of Arkansas.  So he hired me right away.
EL:
And what was your position at your first hire? [00:25:00] 
TT:
I was a licensed architect at that point, so I had an architect title.  At that point in the City’s classifications in that world, you were either an Architect I, II, or III or an Engineer I, II, or III, or IV.  They had some higher levels. 

EL:
And what were you?

TT:
I don’t quite remember.  I wasn’t the highest.
EL:
But you were able to set that cultural tone in your -- you said, in your division.  So you were the head of a group of architects.  Is that right?
TT:
Not right away.

EL:
Not right away.

TT:
I was a project manager, basically, by today’s terminology.  But around -- that was ’83.  Around ’86, I was given my first person to supervise.  And ’89 is when I became the division manager.

EL:
And then did you go higher than that? [00:26:00] 
TT:
My division expanded many times what it was originally.
EL:
They just gave you more and more people and projects and aspects to manage.

TT:
Yes.  So initially --

EL:
Yeah.  So it grew. 

TT:
-- I had about 12 people.  And then we probably never -- as just the architectural division, we probably never got over 15 to 20 people.  And that lasted seven years.  It was a very happy time.  Wonderful group of people, like Kalpana Sutaria and -- 
EL:
Yeah.  I knew you were going to say her. 
TT:

Cindy Jordan.  
EL:
Oh, yeah.

TT:
Ron Davis, and Fred Evins, and...
EL:
Oh, my goodness.  The stars.

TT:
Just a great group of people to work with.  So then in ’96 we had a director in Public Works who wanted to [00:27:00] combine all the engineers and the architects into one division.  So at that point the division became eventually 100 people.
EL:
That you were head of.  
TT:
Yes.

EL:
That’s huge.
TT:
It’s big.
EL:
Oh, boy.  Well, in that capacity and over those many years -- how many years was that at the City of Austin?  Let’s see here.
TT:
I retired from full-time in ’06 but I left Public Works in ’01 and went to do technology project management. 
EL:
For...?
TT:
The City.

EL:
Oh.  But then there was a little AISD interlude.
TT:
That was after retirement.
EL:
After reti-- “retirement” is in quotes with you, Toni.  
TT:
(laughter) 

EL:
Because your resume just keeps going up until today, because you’re still called upon by the City to come in and [00:28:00] fix problems, fill gaps, all -- I mean, your expertise is still of incredible value.  Which isn’t always true of an architect.  I think that’s particularly indicative of your skills in management.  Because you -- they just -- you see problems.  You can solve problems with people.  And --

TT:
Mm-hmm.

EL:
-- that is a value that everybody needs.

TT:
I think it’s fun.

EL:
Oh, well, hooray.  
TT:
(laughter) 

EL:
I’m so glad you do.  So in the complexity of all -- because I mean, I know, as an ar-- Austin architect, I know your name is synonymous with working for the City.  I mean, we all knew Toni Thomasson.  There was no question.  But I’m just curious about, as you look back on all those years in the City, especially the fact that this was the -- you know, these were the growth decades of Austin, and you were at the head of the whole vision.  What are the highlight projects [00:29:00] and moments?  I mean, all of it.  It really is a history of Austin that you’re talking about.  Austin’s boom. 

TT:
Well, I think what was important to me was the big picture.  And it’s hard -- I mean, I can name some projects that I really enjoyed.  But being in that place to influence branch libraries, or all rec centers, or, you know, just the whole array of projects was what was the highlight for me.  To be able to build a program, and to [00:30:00] change things like green building, and incorporating it into our projects, and minority- and women-owned businesses, and how do we improve that?  Just being able to hire women and minorities into Public Works was huge over that time period.  
EL:
That program came into being during your --

TT:
Mm-hmm.

EL:
-- tenure?  Were you involved in the creation of that program?

TT:
Not so much in the -- I mean, I always had input into things. 
EL:
That may have been legislated, and then you were there to make it happen.
TT:
Figure out how to do it.  Yeah.  I was very involved in the green building piece of it, and developing that, and figuring out how to implement it.  And things like art in public places.  You know, how do we do that? [00:31:00] In terms of just projects, the Convention Center was big for us, because it brought new life to downtown.  And it was, to me, something that kicked off all this new --

EL:
True.

TT:
-- urban interest.
EL:
Well, it was in a part of downtown that we were just sort of oblivious to.  

TT:
Right.

EL:
Just, oh, yeah, those are just some flat old buildings over there.

TT:
And although --
EL:
Convention Center.
TT:
-- most people don’t know much about it, when I left Public Works and went to the technology area I worked on a project that was called CTECC -- C-T-E-C-C.  Don’t ask me now what that (laughter) stands for.  But it’s a building that’s on the north side of the Mueller [00:32:00] site, the old airport site.  And it was the first thing to go out there, years before anything else.  And it houses the emergency operations and 911 call center.
EL:
Oh, interesting.  That used to be down on Town Lake, wasn’t it?  EOC.  Oh, well.  So it’s out there now.

TT:
Yeah.
EL:
On the Mueller -- on the airport -- 
TT:
On the north side.

EL:
Like...

TT:
But that was --
EL:
That must have been exciting.
TT:
To me, it was fascinating, because I was hanging out with all these technology project managers.  And they had a woman mechanical engineer who was managing the construction.  But there were all these leftover pieces that needed addressing.  Like, they needed someone to take care of the [00:33:00] 911 call taker workstation.  They had thought they were going to just go out and buy something and bring it in.  And I had just come off of some work with Stan and Joan Haas, using a state contract and some more modular type of systems furniture.  So I suggested that we explore that.  And so, working with Herman Miller and with Stan and Joan -- 

EL:
Nice.

TT:
-- we just created a completely new concept for 911 call taker stations.  That was so fun.  Herman Miller was fantastic.
EL:
Oh, nice.

TT:
Building us mockups, and letting the call takers come in and tell us what they thought.  So...
EL:
Oh, how exciting.
TT:
And it’s all still there.  [00:34:00] It’s all working. 

EL:
Working well.  Nice.

TT:
Holding up.  So those were a couple of favorites -- favorite projects.
EL:
And we haven’t spoken much about your private realm.  I would like to just -- if you would just talk a bit about that, because I know you worked with a pretty darn famous landscape architect at one time, and just how that happened.  I know these were in your very early years, but I think they must have been formative, because of the planning big-picture view.  So...
TT:
Well, I had an internship just before I graduated from UT at Parks & Wildlife, in the master planning group.  
EL:
There you go.

TT:
And that was brief, but they had wonderful teams.  When a new park came up, you had an architect; a civil engineer; a landscape architect; an archaeologist; a biologist.  And I [00:35:00] got to hang out with those guys and just see how all that worked.  And they used Ian McHarg’s method of identifying developable areas of new parks and sensitive areas that needed to be protected.  That 
all had a big influence.  And through a recommendation -- after I graduated in August I was moving to San Antonio, and I got a recommendation to go to work for James Keeter, the landscape architect, so that was...
EL:
A great gentleman and designer.  
TT:
It was -- 

EL:
My gosh.
TT:
-- really amazing.
EL:
You must have been -- was it just you and him?

TT:
We had Judy Maxwell, who was the British architect.  She worked there.  And another landscape architect named Jamie Cooper worked there, but that was it.  [00:36:00] So, that’s...
EL:
And did you move to San Antonio for personal reasons?
TT:
Yes.  Family reasons.  And then again, family reasons, on to Houston, where I went to work for the City of Houston Parks Department.  That was prob-- you know, the landscape experience played into getting that job.  
EL:
Certainly.

TT:
Because most everyone there was a landscape architect.  There was only one other architect, and it was Larry Toups, who was the brother of Laura Toups (inaudible).
EL:
Civil engineer in Austin.  
TT:
Mm-hmm.

EL:
Laura Toups.  Interesting.  I do think there are familial influences that we have: engineer; architect.
TT:
There are.  So two and a half years there, which was a ton of fun, being in [00:37:00] downtown Houston and...
EL:
Big city.
TT:
Big city.
EL:
Big city living.
TT:
Fun projects.  I got my first taste of project management, because I was assigned to kind of oversee all the projects funded by Community Development Block Grants.
EL:
Interesting, in Houston particularly.  

TT:
It could be anything from a picnic shelter to a rec center.  There were all kinds.
EL:
And after that, where did you go?

TT:
Well, Alan Taniguchi called me to come to work for him there in Houston.
EL:
And Alan had been dean of the School of Architecture, a very -- 
TT:
I didn’t know him well.
EL:
You didn’t.  But what a respected and fine designer he was.  So he called you up.
TT:
He was interested in having me come work for him [00:38:00] because he had gotten two rec centers from the city, and he wanted me to come help out on that.  And we weren’t -- I mean, I was there for about nine months when he and his wife, Leslie, decided to come back to Austin.  And he asked if I wanted to come, so I jumped at that. 
EL:
And were you married at that time?
TT:
I got married right before we moved.  I got married in August of ’78 and we moved in August of ’78.  The move of my job kind of precipitated getting married.  So...
EL:
Fantastic.

TT:
After Alan, small office experience, then I went to Graeber, Simmons & Cowan for a different, large office experience.  
EL:
A calculated move to get a different kind of experience?

TT:
Mm-hmm.

EL:
That’s a smart move.  But you were already [00:39:00] licensed?
TT:
I got licensed in -- I took the test, I think, in ’77, in the fall.  So, I got the word -- you know, back then it took months to hear your results.  (laughter) 
EL:
Oh, I know.  It felt like it took months to sit for the exam too.  Like, four solid days, and then you waited.  I remember that period of after the exam till you heard the news, those months were just pure bliss.  Because the test was over, you know.
TT:
There’s no more studying.  
EL:
No more studying, and who knew, and nothing you could do about it.  Well, ’77, you were licensed.  That’s fantastic.  What a career.  I mean, just those first years were -- it’s fascinating.  The two really, you know, notable names in Texas architecture, Keeter landscape and Taniguchi, and of course, Graeber, Simmons & Cowan.  But that’s impressive credentials.  [00:40:00] So, as you said, the Convention Center, back to the impact of your career in the realm of public architecture, you know, from the outsider’s view, my outsider architect, I saw change of organization; clear information.  You know, the ripples would trickle down to us in the private sector.  Were you aware of that at the time?  I mean, surely -- did it just feel like you walked into a mess that had no organization, or little, and you were able to really envision this, and just plot the steps toward organization?
TT:
It wasn’t a mess.  
EL:
Oh, good.  Oh, that’s nice to hear. 

TT:
It really wasn’t.  It just grew.  And I was so fortunate to have bosses that really had no interest [00:41:00] in architecture.
EL:
(laughter) 

TT:
I mean, I can clearly remember sitting in front of my boss, the civil engineer, and him saying, “I really don’t care what you do.  Just don’t get in any trouble, and keep me informed.”  And so, that to me was like a huge gift.  Such freedom.  I was not cavalier about it, though.  I was very strategic --

EL:
Absolutely.

TT:
-- and moderate about change.  But, yeah, they allowed me to change my consultant selection criteria; rewrite the front end; to, you know, work with the attorneys on a new professional services agreement for architects.  Eventually I was allowed to create a project manager job classification [00:42:00] so we no longer had that, oh, you’re an architect; you’re an engineer.  They all got rolled into the same job classification with the same salary scale.  Yeah.  It was a dream job for many, many years.  For me, anyway.
EL:
For your special skill set.

TT:
Mm-hmm.  

EL:
And do you feel like those systems that you put in place and the criteria evaluation and reevaluation resulted in better design for our city?

TT:
I hope so.  I mean, I’m sure that’s very subjective.  I do remember being a little horrified early on in my time in Public Works when our director, [00:43:00] who was a civil engineer, was so proud of this building that they had done for $42 a square foot -- 
EL:
(laughter) 

TT:
-- for another department.  And I had to handle the warranty calls on it.  And it leaked constantly, and had mold, and I think has now been demolished.  But, yeah.  There were some early indications that we needed to do a more thoughtful job of selecting architects and saying what we wanted -- defining our projects better.  Which, it all goes back, okay, if you’re going to identify this level of design and construction, it has to go back [00:44:00] to the original, what do you estimate for the bonds that go out to the voters?  You have to go all the way to the beginning.  So we did create more thoughtful estimating.  We no longer said, okay, fire station, $50 a square foot.  You know.  We broke it all down based on history of past projects, what line should we be increasing to get the quality up?  So our group was always responsible for all the estimates for the bond elections.  
EL:
Gosh.  (inaudible) 

TT:
So, some projects that I would estimate over and over again, each time a bond cycle would come, like the central library, are finally getting done.  So, projects that I (laughter) can say I [00:45:00] actually worked on at some point -- they’re all just about to get done.  (laughter) 

EL:
So, Central Library will be as impactful as the Convention Center, I would think.  I mean, maybe not in size, but in what it’s doing to that neighborhood; that area.
TT:
I hope so.

EL:
Oh, yeah.  So, that is a huge feather.  And what other are big ones that you see happening now?  Are there other ones that come to mind?
TT:
Well, Seaholm, which has been done several years, but we had been involved in the decommissioning of Seaholm.  Austin Energy took care of the abatement of all the hazardous materials.  But, you know, we did things like stabilizing the roof so that it could be allowed to sit, undamaged.
EL:
I’m grinning because I’m remembering running into you at some party or some event, and you -- we were looking out the window [00:46:00] at the smokestacks at Seaholm.  And you said, “What color should we paint those?  We’re rehabilitating that,” or, “We’re stabilizing.”  So, that was -- 
TT:
It must have been the ’90s.
EL:
Probably. 

TT:
So, yes.  So, I think Seaholm’s another one of those.

EL:
Yes.  Truly.  And were you involved in Palmer or the Long Center or any of that transformation?  I don’t know what the City’s role was exactly in all that, but isn’t that all City property?
TT:
Yes.  Not so much in the Long Center; some.  But definitely in the Palmer Events.  The Palmer Events Center’s one of my favorite buildings in Austin.
EL:
Oh, what are some others?
TT:
Other favorites.  Let’s see.  I’ll find my list.
EL:
Kind of [00:47:00] jumping ahead, but because you said it, Palmer is a great spot. 

TT:
I do like the Long Center.  I tend to like things that are reused.  

EL:
How neat. 

TT:
I notice when I think about -- like, I love the San Jose Hotel.  I have a soft spot for the Schneider Store, just because every few years, as the lead architect, that someone would say, “Get over there.  Tell us what’s going on; what we need to do to turn that into a ‘blank.’”  It was always something different.  “We’re going to make it a ‘blank.’”  So, every time, I’d go over there and crawl around.  “No, it’s still the same.  Dirt floor, leaking roof.”  (laughter) 
EL:
That was one of my projects.
TT:
Oh.

EL:
Yeah.  It is. 

TT:
Well, I like it.
EL:
It’s so cool.  And, well, I’m sure we have you to thank that it’s still [00:48:00] there.  I mean, the design team was not so interested in that building at the time, but everyone loves it now.  And that’s how people generally feel about historic buildings that are sort of in the way.
TT:
Yes.  Of progress.

EL:
So, that’s neat, you were crawling around the Schneider Store.

TT:
We even did a study, which there are copies around of.  We just documented the condition and did estimates for what it would take to just stabilize it and...
EL:
I’m sure I’ve studied those.  I’m sure they -- I hope they were handed over when we...
TT:
I hope so.  I like this building, the Austin History Center.  It was one of my first projects when I started to work at the City.
EL:
With David Hoffman?

TT:
I think that I got handed the warranty issues.  But I was over here a lot, and [00:49:00] I just like it.
EL:
Any others?

TT:
Well, Seaholm.  I love Seaholm, being in that.  And I got to work on Seaholm in the redevelopment --

EL:
Oh, good.

TT:
-- for a couple of years, so...
EL:
That was a herculean task wasn’t it?

TT:
Oh, yes.

EL:
Oof.  All right.  So, I just wonder about, as you look back on your career and all the changes you’ve seen in the way not only architecture has evolved stylistically, but just the management of it, the way buildings get built, are you aware of some sort of evolution of your feelings about or your thinking about [00:50:00] architecture, from when you began until today?
TT:
You know, I’ve done a lot of different things.  But I think the basic beliefs and interests have stayed the same.  Love of Austin.  Love of architects and their business.  And then I like to help people.  There’s this thing about, I don’t really want to be in the limelight but I love to help people.  So, I think that’s been true through the whole time.
EL:
I do too.  Well said.  We’ve touched upon what aspects of architecture are interesting to you, and is there anything else you would like to say [00:51:00] about the process?
TT:
I love a good team.

EL:
Oh, that’s a great quote.

TT:
Really.  I do.

EL:
It can be so exhilarating.
TT:
Oh, it’s fantastic.  What two people with the right synergy can do together, or three people, or a team of people.  I learned that from Alan Taniguchi.  Because Alan was incredible at pulling together these groups of people to work on ideas or projects.  And I was never invited to join because I was always working away on my door and window and bathroom details (laughter)...

EL:
(laughter) 

TT:
But (laughter)...
EL:
You could hear it going on?
TT:
I could see --

EL:
You could see.  [00:52:00] 
TT:
-- the people coming into the office, and I could hear them, and just feel the energy, and hear Alan talk about it after the fact, going new direction.  So that’s something I took into my work at the City.  I tried when -- I mean, we had very distinct clients -- customers -- in the departments.  And they always had a contact person who was their lead on their capital projects.  So we had Greg Hager, Fire Department.  Stuart Strong, Parks Department.  John Gillum, Library.  So I tried to not scatter projects but assign a project manager to a department where possible.  So Cindy Jordan -- 

EL:
Like Cindy.

TT:
-- did the libraries, and Nick Naccarato did the Parks Department.  So they built a relationship with that person [00:53:00] and then, with that base, then you’d add in your consultant team that you select, and just let the magic happen.
EL:
Let the magic happen.  
TT:
(laughter) 

EL:
Just put those ingredients in proper positions.
TT:
But that’s what I like.  

EL:
That’s fabulous.

TT:
And it was not always successful, as we know.  Teams are not always -- 

EL:
No, they’re not.
TT:
-- the right.

EL:
But I --

TT:
But I spent a lot of time -- 

EL:
-- think you would -- 

TT:
-- training our project managers on teamwork and the importance.  We had lots of training on personality types; how to communicate with different types of people.
EL:
Who would do that training?  Would you bring in experts or did you go --

TT:
Yes.

EL:
-- learn it and then came back and told your team?

TT:
I usually had experts.
EL:
So you would learn with them.  I mean, you had the vision.  You knew the theory, and then you had specialists come and...
TT:
And train them so that they knew how to deal [00:54:00] with difficult situations.  And I felt that was important.
EL:
Oh, mandatory.  Mandatory.  So in your world, do you sketch?  Do you draw?  Has that been a tool you’ve used, or if you’re thinking through a problem, a management problem, will you sketch out, like, the teams by hand, or an outline, or are you all computer-based entirely, in your sort of spreadsheet analysis of issues?
TT:
That’s very interesting that you ask it this way.  Because when I saw the question, “Are you a sketcher?” I was going to say, “Absolutely not.”  I’ve never been able to sketch.  I think sketching for architects is really important.  I think there’s just something that happens between your brain and your hand and the pencil [00:55:00] that is vital -- 
EL:
I agree completely.
TT:
-- to the design process.  I think over the years as an owner, watching firms come through with their work, those that sketched produced a much better quality design.  I think you can see it in the end.  But as you’re asking the question now, I am very visual.  I do sketch out organizations and processes.  Yes.
EL:
So I think that connection you described is the same connection when you’re solving your visual problem of organizing.  I mean, it’s people; it’s this; it’s that; it’s this task.  And...
TT:
Yes, I think you’re right.  I never thought of it that way, [00:56:00] but...
EL:
Well, I especially notice how younger people in our firm work, and they’re not as used to using the pen.  They’re just much more used to the computer.  And they just go right to it to do a spreadsheet or this or that.  And, you know, I believe it’s a different form of thinking.  So in order to get ready for a day at the City with a pile of very expensive, large, complicated projects, how do you approach your day with calm and steady assurance for your team?
TT:
Well, it’s been a while since I’ve had that kind of stressful life, since I retired (inaudible).
EL:
Was your position a high-stress position?

TT:
Yes.  And in the end, it was the stress that [00:57:00] drove me away.  They just piled too much onto me.
EL:
The competent, able leader.  Yeah.
TT:
I just -- after 12 years as division manager I was ready for a change.  I do like change.  And that constant cycle of City budget capital -- it never changes, really.  You’re always repeating the same thing.  I felt like I didn’t have anything fresh to offer anymore.  So that’s when I made the jump to the IT world and the technology group.  But to prepare for a day, I would say, even now in retirement my perfect day has got some exercise in it.  Some friend time [00:58:00] -- interface with someone.  And of course some work.  Even in retirement, something going on with my brain.
EL:
And aren’t there some grandkids thrown in there too now?
TT:
Sometimes. 

EL:
But not every day.  
TT:
Not every day.  I like just hanging out downtown.  One of -- 
EL:
And you live downtown now?
TT:
I do.  And one of the things I’ve enjoyed about working in retirement is all my jobs have been within walking distance of where I live.  So, I enjoy that stop at the coffee shop downstairs, and then head out, walking to the office.
EL:
Sounds very nice.  You mentioned your -- well, just before we leave the career too much here, [00:59:00] was there a point in time when you just thought, okay, this is it for me?  Architecture’s it?  Was there a project that you thought, oh, I’m really good at this?  Was it when you got to the City and the fellow said, just, “I don’t care what you do; just don’t make trouble” and then you realized you had this whole arena to organize and -- where were...?
TT:
I think that was it.  I think when I got to the City and I was just a project manager, an architect managing all projects, and I had -- the boss who had hired me had had some health issues and they brought in someone else temporarily -- it was Nathan Schneider -- to be our supervisor.  And after, I don’t know, maybe a year, I remember going in for a review.  And [01:00:00] he said, “Well, what are your goals?”  And I said, “Well, I want your job.”  And he goes, “Okay.”  I mean, he was good.  He said, “Here are the things you should do if you want this job.”
EL:
Do you remember what they were?
TT:
Oh, it involved training.  You know, taking some city supervisor training to prepare to supervise people.  That was mainly it.  I think I might have participated -- maybe taken on some non-project but office-related tasks to help, you know, fix the form, or a process, and start to play around in that.  And so, then, three years later when the office had grown a little bit and they needed to get a supervisor in to help him, then I applied and got that job.  [01:01:00] And I think at that point I realized, okay, the City keeps its promises.  If you stay on the path and play by the rules, you can be rewarded.  And so, that’s probably when I figured it out...
EL:
It’s the reward.  You have to have the reward, I think, too.  
TT:
Mm-hmm.  

EL:
That’s fantastic.  Nathan -- he was good.  So you mentioned your first trip to Europe in your forties.  Have you ever had any meetings with, you know, your peers in other cities?  Is there collaboration or learning?
TT:
Yes.

EL:
I could -- or it’s not a good word -- well, what were they? [01:02:00]
TT:
Well, after I became the manager, the division manager, I wanted to talk to other public architects.  So I found out about -- the AIA National had a Committee of Public Architects, and I got on it.  So I was able, for a while, to travel to some other cities and meet with this group of public architects.
EL:
How influential was that in what you did in Austin?

TT:
It was influential because I came back here and created my own local group, which was much more relevant to what we were doing.  All of the people at the AIA National level from other states, although I think we had a Dallas city architect, or Fort Worth.  [01:03:00] But I just started looking for all the architects that worked for the state and the county and the school district.  And I started holding, like, quarterly meetings.  And we would bring in our front ends, our professional service agreements --

EL:
Oh, wow.

TT:
-- our consultant selection criteria, and we’d just talk and...
EL:
Was that under the sanction of AIA, or would you meet at the AIA office, or was it separate entirely?
TT:
It started separate entirely and then Sally Fly heard about it and said -- 

EL:
I bet.  “Come along --”
TT:
(laughter) Yeah.

EL:
“-- here, chickies.” (laughter)

TT:
(laughter) That’s right.  

EL:
“Gather together.” (laughter) 

TT:
“You need to come over here and do that.”
EL:
Yeah.  That’s good.

TT:
So we did.  It became the public architect.  It grew into something different eventually.  A lot of those people were not members of AIA, [01:04:00] so...
EL:
Ah.  Even more important for AIA, I think.  But go ahead.
TT:
Yeah.  We tried to recruit new membership by creating this public architects committee that they could relate to.  It was not extremely successful.  But there were members of the private sector in AIA who wanted to hear about what we were talking about.

EL:
You bet.

TT:
And started coming to the meetings. 
EL:
You all held the ticket.  You all held the jobs.  And we didn’t really know how to get them.  And so, you all are over there talking about systems.  So they wanted to come to your meetings.
TT:
So they started coming to our meetings, and -- 

EL:
Smart.

TT:
-- people like Al Simmons was pretty interested, and Girard Kinney.  So it evolved over time.
EL:
Is it still in existence?

TT:
I think [01:05:00] it’s a little bit different in that there are not any publicly employed architects on the committee.  It’s a group of architects who like to stay in touch with what’s happening in the public sector.  And they stay on top of it.  And if there are any major changes, they announce that to the membership or...
EL:
Do you think that most public architects -- are most public architects members of the AIA in Austin?
TT:
No, not at all.
EL:
Not at all.  No benefit?
TT:
No.  The government sectors usually will not pay --

EL:
Oh, the dues. 

TT:
-- the membership dues.
EL:
And you do not see benefit because you have a secure job.

TT:
I saw a benefit.  I stayed a member.

EL:
What was that benefit?  [01:06:00] 
TT:
I just wanted to be able to meet the architects in the community, and get to know them and their concerns, and be able to have a conversation.
EL:
That’s nice.  Another reason you were effective.  In not having this sort of “them and us” arrangement with public and private architecture.  I mean, that’s the meltdown there -- 

TT:
It is.

EL:
-- if that divide is allowed to continue.

TT:
Mm-hmm.  I agree.

EL:
What do you consider the most interesting development in architecture over your career?

TT:
Well, from a City viewpoint, I think it’s the interest in redeveloping unused portions [01:07:00] of our cities.  It’s waterfronts, and warehouse districts, and power plants, and that’s what has interested me. 
EL:
And that is where the exciting growth is happening.  What project didn’t happen that you would have liked to have seen happen?

TT:
(laughter) Two really obscure things.  One of them was a City Hall competition, that Sinclair Black’s proposal was the winner, I believe.
EL:
Yes.  I recall this vaguely.  What year would that have been, roughly?
TT:
I’m not even sure.  I think it might have been the ’80s.

EL:
Yeah, it would be my guess.

TT:
The last half of the ’80s.  I kept Sinclair’s board behind my door [01:08:00] for years.  I just loved looking at it.  (laughter) 

EL:
Oh, wow.

TT:
And not that his design by today’s needs or standards would have been the right answer.  But that would have been interesting.  You have to wonder, if that had happened, how that might have changed how quickly we moved into our urban development and, you know, would that have changed things?
EL:
Was it at the location the City Hall is now?  Can you remember the...?
TT:
No.  I don’t think so.

EL:
It was because it was such a beautiful drawing that you kept it?
TT:
That was part of it, yeah.

EL:
Was it one of those amazing aerial views of downtown, hand-drawn, that he does?

TT:
No, I think it was more an elevation.  

EL:
Oh, wow.  Neat. 

TT:
I’m not sure.  I wish I had that board.  The other [01:09:00] project was Venturi’s Museum of Art, which we worked on.  Fred Evins was the lead on that, working with them.  That was a very painful process, because it was one of our first public/private, and the funding was half museum, half CIP bond funds, and the City really couldn’t let go of their standards if they were going to put their money into it.  And the Museum of Art -- they got that, but they really resented having to abide by City processes.  So, the whole thing was very contentious.  And I can remember (laughter) the representative from Venturi’s office -- it was a woman architect -- writing to Fred, so angry about [01:10:00] some City requirement.  And she called it “gratuitous intrusion.”
EL:
Oh, whoa.

TT:
(laughter) And we used to toss that phrase around -- 

EL:
(laughter) 

TT:
-- all the time after that. 
EL:
That’s a good one.  Oh, my word.  Oh. 

TT:
So, those were two projects that, it would have been interesting, maybe.  There are two -- there’s at least one project right now I hope gets done, but I’m concerned that it may not.  

EL:
What is that?
TT:
It affects my neighborhood.  It’s the Bowie Street underpass.
EL:
Oh, yes. 

TT:
Which is supposed to bring the trail across the Pfluger Bridge and then under the railroad track, right by Seaholm, and then slowly [01:11:00] up to 3rd and Bowie.
EL:
But we need it badly.  
TT:
We do.

EL:
Treacherous connection, or lack thereof, right now. 
TT:
Right now people either go down Seaholm Drive on the narrow sidewalk next to the railroad track wall -- that pleated wall -- or they carry their bike or baby stroller over the tracks, right at Lamar...
EL:
Not a scene we relish.

TT:
So that’s a project I hope gets done.
EL:
Any others?

TT:
Well, in the big picture, something about transportation.
EL:
Yeah.  (laughter) Oh, yeah.  The T word.  
TT:
(laughter) Whatever it is.
EL:
Oh, God.  So true.  What excites you about Austin today and what concerns you?

TT:
Of course, downtown excites me.  [01:12:00] I hope it just continues to build and become dense and exciting and fun.  Concerns?  I spend a lot of time worrying about people’s health and their lifestyle, and I feel like people are becoming disconnected -- especially young people, disconnected from one another.  I walk around downtown and young people just almost bump into you.  They cannot put their phones down.
EL:
So, no “Hello, how are you?”  No greeting?
TT:
And in my elevator in my building, just, they will never speak to you because they’re either too busy looking at their phone or listening to something on their phone.
EL:
Whoa.  And these are all ages in your elevator, or are they mostly young?
TT:
They’re all young.
EL:
Oh, your building is young.
TT:
It’s all ages.  We [01:13:00] have lots of retirees.  So, that, and people who are disconnected from nature and the earth.  I take my grandchildren to my community garden plot regularly to pull up carrots and...
EL:
Where is your plot?

TT:
Deep Eddy Community Garden.
EL:
Oh, that’s a great spot.  
TT:
Mm-hmm.  I just think it’s important for kids to know where carrots come from.

EL:
Absolutely.  You’re a well-rounded person, Toni.  
TT:
(laughter) 

EL:
I love it that you have a community garden plot.  Okay.  In that realm, then, what are you interested in outside of architecture, besides carrot-growing?
TT:
(laughter) I’ve had [01:14:00] a fascination with genealogy for 50 years.  
EL:
No way.

TT:
I started when I was 15.  It is, this summer, 50 years since I started my family tree work.  And of course it’s so much easier now, with Ancestry.  And so, I do something on that every day, just...
EL:
On your family history?

TT:
Mm-hmm. 
EL:
There’s that much research to be done.  Fifty years’ worth of it?
TT:
Oh, I can just go down those little trails forever.  And...
EL:
And all in front of your computer, or didn’t you recently travel related to this?
TT:
I love to travel.  You can learn.  It’s just amazing.  You can sit in front of your computer for months, and just one trip to some archive or library or cemetery can just open up a whole new world of understanding of [01:15:00] what actually happened.  It’s amazing.  
EL:
And you --

TT:
So I’ve been to Georgia.  I often go to Arkansas.  I’ve been to New Jersey.  I’ve been to Scotland.
EL:
And that was recent, right?  In Scotland?

TT:
Really I did that research last year.  But I found I really like Scotland, so...
EL:
And was that the treasure trove, Scotland, or where you’ve had the big finds?

TT:
New Jersey was where I was on the path of a particular line, and there was a lot of stuff there.  Those Scottish people were meticulous about records.  (laughter) 
EL:
So, again, the lineage carries forth --

TT:
Mm-hmm.

EL:
-- with accuracy and precision.
TT:
So there’s that.  But, you know, I do like the outdoors, and gardening, and hiking, and [01:16:00] I love movement.  Yoga; Pilates.  I like to dance.  I love Donn’s Depot on Friday nights.
EL:
Oh, yeah?  What happens there?

TT:
Donn plays himself.  Most people don’t even know there still is a Donn.  (laughter) 

EL:
No.

TT:
Donn plays with his old band on Friday nights.
EL:
Is there dancing, or do you just love the music?
TT:
I mean, I love to dance with a good partner. 
EL:
And there’s dancing at Donn’s Depot?
TT:
Mm-hmm. 

EL:
Oh, I didn’t know that. 

TT:
Yeah. 

EL:
Is it that train sta-- 

TT:
Yes.

EL:
Train car?

TT:
Yes.

EL:
There’s room to dance?
TT:
Yes, there is.
EL:
Well, I might need to drop by and see.
TT:
I’m afraid those kind of places could disappear.  And if you haven’t been, you must go.
EL:
Okay.  No, I’ve never been.
TT:
Yes.  A must-do on a Friday.  Don’t have to dance.  [01:17:00] 
EL:
What advice would you give to students and young architects today?

TT:
Things I failed to do.  An internship while you’re in school.  

EL:
You believe in that?
TT:
I believe it’s important.  I think it improves your educational background a lot.  And travel as much as you can, wherever you can.  

EL:
Why have you chosen to spend time in your retirement as a volunteer at the Austin History Center, and what is your work here, and how many hours a week do you work here?

TT:
In 2008 I went back to the City [01:18:00] to work part-time.  It was about 25 hours a week, and it was shocking to only be working that much.  And I thought, oh, my gosh, I have to have something else to do.  
EL:
Oh, my goodness.

TT:
And simultaneously, the History Center put a call out in the AIA’s e-newsletter that they needed a volunteer to work in the architectural archives.  And I had been part of the creation of it in the ’80s.
EL:
In what capacity?

TT:
Through AIA.  AIA had put together this sesquicentennial project and it was their idea to research Austin architects and write little bios, and then to get some architects to donate some drawings.  And so, it seemed like things had come full circle and I should respond.  And I -- 
EL:
Oh, I should say.
TT:
So, they said, “Yeah, come on in.  We want you [01:19:00] to train with Ida Scott, who’s been here doing this for 20 years.”  And Ida was fascinating, because she had been to the School of Architecture at UT during World War II, and she’d worked for Fehr & Grainger for many years.  And she had been here cataloguing drawings for 20 years.  So I trained with her about six months before she left and then I took it over.  So what I do is enter drawings into the collection.  And it used to be a paper process but now it’s all a database, and it’s much easier.  So I go through documents that people donate and enter it in.  But I also do research when we have exhibits here.  
EL:
Oh, good.

TT:
They frequently want to pull something that’s relevant to the exhibit from the architectural archive, so I help them [01:20:00] determine what that is.  Once they asked me to guest-curate an exhibit myself, which I did.
EL:
What was that?
TT:
It was Art Deco Architecture in Austin.  I started my own, as you know, oral history project, interviewing architects, so...
EL:
Which is what this is a part of.  

TT:
Which is what this is.  So I’ve done about eight of those.  So, time’s not particularly big.  I mean, hours might be six hours, eight hours at the most, a week.
EL:
So, just -- 
TT:
And they’re so good to you here.
EL:
I’m sure they’re very appreciative of your time -- 

TT:
And they just -- 

EL:
-- having you here.
TT:
-- let me work my schedule.  They’re never upset if I tell them I’m not coming in.  [01:21:00] So it’s a great place to volunteer.
EL:
Well, they are lucky to have you.  And so is our profession, to have you willing to take the time to sort of pull the history and documentation of the field together here.  Is there anything we have not touched on that you want to talk about?
TT:
I think we’ve been pretty thorough.  I just want to thank you for allowing me to sit on the opposite side of the recorder today and experience what it’s like to be the person who’s interviewed.  I think that you’re a very good interviewer, and I think I’ll learned from this, and improve what I’m doing with my interviews in the future.  So thank you. 

EL:
Well, you’re welcome.  Thank you.  And how was it, being [01:22:00] interviewed?  Did you enjoy the preparation?  You looked into the -- 
TT:
I did.  And that’s what everyone tells me -- 
EL:
Is that right?

TT:
-- too.  That they really enjoy looking at the questions and thinking about -- looking back on their careers.  So...
EL:
Right.  And you’ve framed these questions that I just sort of took a few liberties with.  But I appreciated the overarching view of the architect as a person.  You know, the career, of course, is the focus of the interview, but I think it is a profession that can absorb a life, and you can just lose yourself in this.  
TT:
Oh, definitely. 

EL:
And so, you know, how do you -- and you’ve -- you balanced it better than most, I think.  But women tend to do that, because they’re the ones that are actually giving birth to the children and tend to be [01:23:00] the primary caregiver.  So, balance is just demanded of you.
TT:
Yeah.  I think I was that personality with lots of interests too, though.  So, I just -- I didn’t want to be completely consumed by my job.  

EL:
Well, you’ve had a beautiful career and I’ve enjoyed learning about it, so...
TT:
Oh, well, thank you. 

EL:
Thank you.
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